RECEIVED

May 08 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
In the Court of Common Pleas for the Sixteenth Judicial Circuit

The Honorable William A. McKinnon, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-001510

Francine Steineman.....Respondent,

v.

Meridian Security Insurance CompanyAppellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

M. Dawes Cooke, Jr., Esq. (S.C. #1376)
John W. Fletcher, Esq. (S.C. #69550)
BARNWELL WHALEY PATTERSON &
HELMS, LLC
211 King Street, Suite 300 (29401)
PO Drawer H
Charleston, SC 29402
Phone: (843) 577-7700 Fax: (843) 577-7708
*Counsel for Appellant Meridian Security
Insurance Company*

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- A. Did the trial court err in finding that the plain language of the subject policy's "nonduplication provisions" did not preclude payment of UIM and UM, where Meridian exhausted the limits of the liability coverage under that policy for Plaintiff's claim against her husband (an insured under her policy)?

SUGGESTED ANSWER: *Yes.*

- B. Did the trial court err in finding that the subject nonduplication provisions violated South Carolina public policy and statutory policy?

SUGGESTED ANSWER: *Yes.*

- C. Should this Court reject Plaintiff's arguments that the nonduplication provisions impermissibly transform UIM coverage into "reduction coverage"?

SUGGESTED ANSWER: *Yes.*

- D. Plaintiff's Anticipated Argument That the Nonduplication Provisions Are Unenforceable Because Payments Under the Liability Coverage Offset UIM and UM Coverage Is Without Merit 38

SUGGESTED ANSWER: *Yes.*

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Procedural History

Plaintiff/Respondent Francine Steineman ("Steineman") commenced this lawsuit on July 28, 2020 in the Court of Common Pleas of York County, South Carolina, at Docket No. 2020-CP-46-02221. (*See generally* R. pp. 20-76). Steineman's Complaint explained that she was seeking a declaration from the trial court as to the parties' rights with respect to a policy of automobile insurance, policy number ACS 0048016 ("Policy"), issued by Defendant/Appellant Meridian Security Insurance Company ("Meridian") to her, with an effective date of coverage from November 1, 2017 to November 1, 2018.¹ (*See* R. p. 21 ¶ 3).

On September 1, 2020, Meridian removed this matter to the United States District Court for the District of South Carolina (Rock Hill Division). (*See* R. pp. 77-95). While this case was pending in the District Court, Meridian filed its Answer and Counterclaims. (*See* R. pp. 96-101). In its Answer, Meridian denied that Steineman was entitled to the requested relief and requested "a declaration that, under the Policy language, it does not owe Plaintiff [Steineman] any UM or UIM benefits because it has already paid Plaintiff the maximum limits of the Liability benefits." (*See* R. p. 100 ¶ 63). On September 3, 2021, the Honorable Mary Geiger Lewis entered a Memorandum Opinion and Order Granting Plaintiff's Motion to Remand, which remanded the case back to the Court of Common Pleas of York County, South Carolina.

Following remand, on September 30, 2021, Plaintiff Steineman filed a Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings, asserting that she was entitled to judgment because the "pertinent facts are established by the allegations of the Complaint, exhibits thereto, and admissions in Defendant's Answer" and that, based upon those facts, the Policy did not allow Meridian to deny UIM or UM benefits to Plaintiff Steineman. (*See* R. pp. 102-03). Subsequently, on October 4, 2021, Appellant Meridian filed its own Notice of Motion and Motion for Judgment on the

¹ Although Steineman's state court Complaint stated that a certified copy of the Policy was attached to the Complaint, it was apparently inadvertently omitted. This was rectified when Steineman filed those exhibits with the District Court. (*See* Federal Docket Entries ## 1-1, 29-1 and 29-2).

Pleadings. (*See* R. pp. 104-05). In its Motion, Meridian argued that, under "the plain and unambiguous language" of the Policy, it would "not be obligated to make duplicate payments for the same elements of loss under both: (a) the policy's liability coverage part; and (b) the policy's UM or UIM coverage part." (*See* R. p. 104). On October 13, 2021, Defendant Meridian filed its Memorandum in Support of Its Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings and in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings. (*See* R. pp. 106-32).

On June 3, 2022, the trial judge, the Honorable William A. McKinnon, entered an Order granting, in part, Steineman's motion for judgment on the pleadings and denying Meridian's motion, concluding: (a) that the Policy's nonduplication provisions did not preclude coverage for UIM or UM benefits; and (b) the nonduplication provisions violated public policy to the extent applied to UM coverage (but not as to UIM coverage). (*See* R. pp. 1-11).

On June 13, 2022, Meridian filed a Motion for Reconsideration and to Alter or Amend Pursuant to Rule 59(e), requesting reconsideration in three respects:

[F]irst, that the Court find that the subject insurance policy unambiguously distinguishes between "elements of loss" and the amount of damages; second, that the Court reconsider its interpretation of the term "duplicate payments"; and finally, that the Court find that the nonduplication provisions do not violate public policy with regard to voluntary uninsured motorist coverage.

(*See* R. p. 133). On the same day, Steineman filed a Motion to Alter/Amend, asking "the Court to alter its ruling so as to state that public policy prohibits the reduction of underinsured motorist coverage as proposed by Defendant." (*See* R. p. 148).

The trial court conducted oral argument on all of the issues raised in the parties' respective motions to alter or amend. On September 27, 2022, Judge McKinnon entered an Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Reconsider, Alter, or Amend and Granting in Part Plaintiff's Motion to Alter or Amend. (*See* R. pp. 12-19). In relevant part, that Order withdrew the public policy discussion from the June 3, 2022 Order and held:

that South Carolina public policy renders void automobile insurance policy provisions that limit a victim who recovers one category of coverage (liability, UM, or UIM) from recovering another category, and also renders unenforceable

an automobile insurance policy provision that offers a stated amount of a category of coverage (liability, UM, or UIM) in one provision of the policy and then in a subsequent provision effectively reducing that stated amount by redefin[ing] that category of coverage more narrowly than the relevant statutes do.

(*See R.* pp. 17-18).

On October 25, 2022, Meridian filed a timely Notice of Appeal, seeking review of the Judge McKinnon's rulings on the parties' cross-motions for judgment on the pleadings. (*See generally R.* pp. 149-70). For the following reason, the Court should reverse and vacate the trial judge's grant of Plaintiff Steineman's Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings. Additionally, the Court should reverse the denial of Defendant Meridian's Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings and rule in its favor that Steineman may not receive UIM or UM benefits under the Policy or under South Carolina common law.

B. Factual Background

1. The Relevant Insurance Policy Provisions

Meridian issued Policy # ASC 0048016 to Named Insured Francine Steineman, which provided certain insurance coverage for the policy period November 1, 2017 through November 1, 2018 ("Policy"). (*See R.* p. 99 ¶ 53). The Policy provided Plaintiff liability insurance coverage (Part A) with a limit of \$250,000 per person, uninsured motorist ("UM") coverage (Part C) with a limit of \$250,000 per person, and underinsured motorist ("UIM") coverage with a limit of \$250,000 per person. (*See R.* p. 99 ¶ 54).

The Policy — in its liability, UM and UIM coverage parts — contained "nonduplication" provisions prohibiting duplicate payments for the same elements of loss under different coverage parts:

- The Policy's South Carolina Underinsured Motorist Coverage contains a "nonduplication" provision stating that "[n]o one will be entitled to receive duplicate payments for the same elements of loss under this coverage and Part A [Liability], Part C [Uninsured Motorist coverage] or Part D [Coverage for Damage to Your Auto] of this policy." (*See R.* p. 69).
- The Policy's South Carolina Uninsured Motorist Coverage form contains a similar "nonduplication" provision: "No one will be entitled to receive duplicate

payments for the same elements of loss under this coverage and: 1. Part A of this policy [Liability]; 2. Any Underinsured Motorists coverage provided by this policy; or 3. Part D [Coverage for Damage to Your Auto] of this policy or any other similar coverage under any other policy." (*See R. p. 66*).

- The Policy's liability coverage provides that "[n]o one will be entitled to receive duplicate payments for the same elements of loss under this coverage and: 1. Part B [Medical Payments Coverage] or Part C of this Policy [Uninsured Motorist Coverage]; or [a]ny Underinsured Motorists Coverage provided by this Policy." (*See R. p. 42*).

The UIM and UM coverage parts of the Policy additionally state that Meridian "will not make a duplicate payment under this coverage for any element of loss for which payment has been made by or on behalf of persons or organizations who may be legally responsible." (*See R. pp. 66 & 69*). Meridian contends that these nonduplication provisions are unambiguous because the Policy clearly differentiates between "elements of loss" and the amount of damages and because the provisions make sense if, and only if, they are read to prohibit duplication of the same elements of loss rather than the amount of damages. Meridian further contends that these provisions are valid because they apply to voluntary coverages and therefore do not contravene public policy.

2. Plaintiff Steineman's Injuries and Claims

Plaintiff claims that she was injured in an accident while a passenger in a 2001 Ford Explorer driven by her husband. (*See R. p. 24 ¶¶ 15-20*). She alleges that "[a]s Mr. Steineman attempted the left turn, he failed to check the outside lane before entering it, and the driver in the outside lane was traveling too fast for conditions and collided into Mrs. Steineman's car." (*See R. p. 22 ¶ 19*). In this lawsuit, Plaintiff alleges that she is entitled to UIM benefits under the Policy because of her husband's negligence. Plaintiff further claims that the other driver who collided into her ("Uninsured John Doe Driver") "was [also] negligent in causing her damages, and because the [Uninsured John Doe D]river is uninsured, Mrs. Steineman is entitled to her UM coverage." (*See R. p. 25 ¶ 24*). Plaintiff alleges that her damages from the accident exceed \$1 million. (*See R. p. 24 ¶ 21*).

Pursuant to her demand, Meridian paid to Plaintiff the limit of coverage under the Policy's Liability Coverage Part (\$250,000) for her husband's alleged negligence as an insured under the Policy. (*See* R. p. 100 ¶ 58). Plaintiff argues that she is also entitled to: (a) underinsured motions ("UIM") benefits of up to \$750,000 (\$250,000 limit x 3 vehicles) with regard to her husband's negligence; and (b) uninsured motorist ("UM") benefits of up to \$750,000 (\$250,000 limit x 3 vehicles) with regard to the negligence of Uninsured John Doe Driver. Meridian has alleged that, "[p]ursuant to the terms of the UM Coverage Part and the UIM Coverage Part, Defendant does not owe the Plaintiff any benefits under these coverage parts because such payments would be duplicative of what Defendant already paid under the Liability Coverage Part and, therefore, expressly excluded." (*See* R. p. 100 ¶ 59).

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

This is an appeal from the trial court's ruling on the parties' cross-motions for judgment on the pleadings (and ruling on cross-motions for reconsideration). When reviewing a grant of summary judgment or judgment on the pleadings, this Court must apply the same legal standards as the trial court. *See Ziegler v. Dorchester Cty.*, 426 S.C. 615, 619, 828 S.E.2d 218, 220 (2019).

A motion for judgment on the pleadings "is proper where the pleadings entitled the party to judgment without proof, as where they disclose all the facts, or where the pleadings present no issue of fact or where the pleadings, under other circumstances, present an immaterial issue." *See Wooten v. Standard Life and Cas. Ins. Co.*, 239 S.C. 243, 249, 122 S.E.2d 637, 640 (1961).

"All properly pleaded factual allegations are deemed admitted for the purposes of considering a motion for judgment on the pleadings." *Hambrick v. GMAC Mortg. Corp.*, 370 S.C. 118, 122, 634 S.E.2d 5, 7 (Ct. App. 2006) (citation omitted). "On review of the motion, the court may not consider matters outside the pleadings." *Falk v. Sadler*, 341 S.C. 281, 286, 533 S.E.2d 350, 353 (Ct. App. 2000). However, "a court may consider documents outside of the complaint if the complaint incorporates the documents by reference." *See Carolina First Corp. v. Whittle*, 343 S.C. 176, 190 n.7, 539 S.E.2d 402, 410 n.7 (Ct. App. 2000).

B. The Trial Court Should Have Granted Appellant Meridian's Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings and Denied Steineman's Similar Motion Because the Policy's "Nonduplication Provisions" Preclude Payment of UIM and UM Benefits Where Liability Policy Limits Were Paid Under the Same Policy.

1. The Policy's Plain Nonduplication Language Precludes UIM or UM Benefits Coverage.

a. Policy Limits and Relevant Policy Provisions

The Policy includes the following Limits of Liability that are potentially applicable to this case (R. p. 37):

COVERAGE	LIMITS OF LIABILITY	AU
A LIABILITY-BODILY INJURY	\$ 250,000 EACH PERSON/ \$ 500,000 EACH ACCIDENT	
A LIABILITY-PROPERTY DAMAGE	\$ 100,000 EACH ACCIDENT	
C UNINSURED MOTORISTS		
BODILY INJURY	\$ 250,000 EACH PERSON/ \$ 500,000 EACH ACCIDENT	
PROPERTY DAMAGE	\$ 100,000 EACH ACCIDENT	
C UNDERINSURED MOTORISTS		
BODILY INJURY	\$ 250,000 EACH PERSON/ \$ 500,000 EACH ACCIDENT	

i. Liability Coverage

Part A of the Policy includes the following insuring agreement for liability coverage under the Policy:

We will pay damages for "bodily injury" or "property damage" for which any "insured" becomes legally responsible because of an auto accident. Damages include prejudgment interest awarded against the "insured". We will settle or defend, as we consider appropriate, any claim or suit asking for these damages. In addition to our limit of liability, we will pay all defense costs we incur. Our duty to settle or defend ends when our limit of liability for this coverage has been exhausted by payment of judgments or settlements. We have no duty to defend any suit or settle any claim for "bodily injury" or "property damage" not covered under this policy.

(See R. p. 40). The liability coverage provisions of the Policy state that "[n]o one will be entitled to receive duplicate payments for the same elements of loss under this coverage and: 1. Part B [Medical Payments Coverage] or Part C of this Policy [Uninsured Motorist Coverage]; or [a]ny Underinsured Motorists Coverage provided by this Policy." (See R. p. 42).

ii. Underinsured Motorist ("UIM") Coverage

The insuring provision of the Policy's South Carolina Underinsured Motorist Coverage states in relevant part:

We will pay damages which an "insured" is legally entitled to recover from the owner or operator of an "underinsured motor vehicle"² because of: 1. "Bodily

² An "underinsured motor vehicle" is defined as a "land motor vehicle or trailer of any type to which a liability bond or policy applies at the time of the accident in limits equal to or greater than the minimum limit for liability specified by the South Carolina Financial Responsibility Act, but the limits of

injury" sustained by an "insured" and caused by an accident The owner's or operator's liability for these damages must arise out of the ownership, maintenance or use of the "underinsured motor vehicle".

(See R. p. 68). The Policy's South Carolina Underinsured Motorist Coverage form further defines "insured" as including "[y]ou³] or any 'family member.'"⁴ (See *id.*). The Policy also includes the following "nonduplication" provision in its South Carolina UIM coverage form:

D. No one will be entitled to receive duplicate payments for the same elements of loss under this coverage and Part A [Liability], Part C [Uninsured Motorist coverage] or Part D [Coverage for Damage to Your Auto] of this policy.

E. We will not make a duplicate payment under this coverage for any element of loss for which payment has been made by or on behalf of persons or organizations who may be legally responsible.

(See R. p. 69).

iii. Uninsured Motorist ("UM") Coverage

The insuring provision of the Policy's South Carolina Uninsured Motorist Coverage states in relevant part:

We will pay damages which an "insured" is legally entitled to recover from the owner or operator of an "uninsured motor vehicle"⁵ because of: 1. "Bodily injury" sustained by an "insured" and caused by an accident The owner's or

that bond or policy are not enough to pay the full amount the 'insured' is legally entitled to recover as damages." (See R. p. 68).

³ "You" is defined as "1. The 'named insured' shown in the Declarations; and 2. The spouse if a resident of the same household." (See R. p. 39). The named insured on the Policy is Francine Steineman. (See R. p. 37).

⁴ The Policy defines "family member" to mean "a person related to you by blood, marriage or adoption who is a resident of your household." (See R. p. 39).

⁵ An "uninsured motor vehicle" is defined as a "land motor vehicle or trailer of any type with regard to which:

1. To which neither: a. A liability bond or policy; nor b. Cash or securities deposited with the State Treasurer; applies at the time of the accident.

2. To which a liability bond or policy applies at the time of the accident. In this case its limit for liability must be less than the minimum limits specified by the South Carolina Financial Responsibility Act.

3. Which is a hit-and-run vehicle whose operator or owner cannot be identified

(See R. p. 64).

operator's liability for these damages must arise out of the ownership, maintenance or use of the "uninsured motor vehicle".

(See R. p. 64). The Policy's South Carolina Uninsured Motorist Coverage form defines "insured" as including "[y]ou or any 'family member.'" (See *id.*). The Policy also includes the following "nonduplication" provision in its South Carolina Uninsured Motorist coverage form:

D. No one will be entitled to receive duplicate payments for the same elements of loss under this coverage and: 1. Part A of this policy [Liability]; 2. Any Underinsured Motorists coverage provided by this policy; or 3. Part D [Coverage for Damage to Your Auto] of this policy or any other similar coverage under any other policy.

E. We will not make a duplicate payment under this coverage for any element of loss for which payment has been made by or on behalf of persons or organizations who may be legally responsible.

(See R. p. 66).

b. The Nonduplication Provisions Unambiguously Prohibit the Payment of UM and UIM Benefits to Plaintiff.

"In the absence of ambiguity, the terms of an insurance policy . . . must be interpreted and enforced according to their plain and ordinary meaning." See *South Carolina Ins. Co. v. White*, 301 S.C. 133, 137, 390 S.E.2d 471, 474 (Ct. App. 1990). A policy term can be said to be ambiguous only when the language used is capable of two reasonable interpretations. See *Edens v. South Carolina Farm Bur. Mut. Ins. Co.*, 279 S.C. 377, 379, 308 S.E.2d 670, 671 (1983); accord *Hansen v. United Servs. Automobile Ass'n*, 350 S.C. 62, 67, 565 S.E.2d 114, 117 (Ct. App. 2002) (policy only ambiguous where term may fairly and reasonably be understood in more than one way).

The policy terms define an insurer's obligation under a policy of insurance; the Court may not use judicial construction to enlarge the insurer's obligations. *South Carolina Ins. Co. v. White*, 301 S.C. 133, 390 S.E.2d 471, 474 (Ct. App. 1990). When the parties' intention is clear from the policy language, the court has "no authority to torture the meaning of policy language to extend or defeat coverage that was never intended by the parties." *Torrington Co. v. Aetna Cas. and Sur. Co.*, 264 S.C. 636, 643, 216 S.E.2d 547, 550 (1975). "Our courts must enforce,

not write, contracts of insurance and must give policy language its plain, ordinary and popular meaning." *Helton v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co.*, 286 S.C. 220, 222, 332 S.E.2d 776, 777 (Ct. App. 1985). "Written in the turgid vernacular typical of insurance policies, the language of the policy ... is stylistically inelegant but, when carefully read, unmistakable in its meaning." *Universal Underwriters Ins. Co. v. Metro. Prop. & Life Ins. Co.*, 298 S.C. 404, 407, 380 S.E.2d 858, 860 (Ct. App. 1989)

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