**RECEIVED**

**Mar 21 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY  
In the Court of Common Pleas for the Sixteenth Judicial Circuit

William A. McKinnon, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2022-001510

---

Francine Steineman ..... Respondent.

v.

Meridian Security Insurance Company ..... Appellant.

---

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

Stephen G. Vicari, II  
S.C. Bar No. 102395  
STEWART LAW OFFICES, LLC  
P.O. Drawer 670  
Rock Hill, SC 29731  
(803) 328-5600

Bert G. Utsey, III  
S.C. Bar No. 10093  
CLAWSON FARGNOLI UTSEY, LLC  
2 Amherst Street  
Charleston, SC 29403  
(843) 970-2700

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

## ARGUMENTS

### 1. Facts

Respondent Francine Steineman (“Steineman”) was the named insured on automobile insurance policy number ACS 0048016 (“the Policy”) issued on November 1, 2017, by Appellant Meridian Security Insurance Company (“Meridian”). (R. pp. \_\_; Complaint, ¶ 6 & Ex. A, p. 009). The Policy insured three vehicles (R. pp. \_\_; Complaint, ¶ 7 & Ex. A, p. 009) and provided limits of \$250,000 per person in bodily injury liability (“BI”) coverage, \$250,000 per person in uninsured motorists (“UM”) coverage, and \$250,000 per person in underinsured motorists (“UIM”) coverage for each vehicle. (R. pp. \_\_; Complaint, ¶ 6 & Ex. A, p. 009). The Policy also defined Steineman’s spouse and other family members as “insureds.” (R. pp. \_\_; Complaint, Ex. A, pp. 011-012).

The Policy was in effect on January 22, 2018. (R. p. \_\_; Complaint, Ex. A, p. 009). On that date, Steineman was a passenger in her 2001 Ford Explorer, one of the vehicles insured under the Policy. (R. pp. \_\_; Complaint, ¶ 15 & Ex. A, p. 009). Her husband, Eric Steineman, was driving the vehicle and was insured by the Policy. (R. pp. \_\_; Complaint, ¶¶ 15, 22). The Steineman vehicle and a vehicle driven by Sarah Smith, an uninsured driver,<sup>1</sup> were involved in a collision (“the Collision”). (R. p. \_\_; Complaint, ¶¶ 19, 24).

---

<sup>1</sup> Although the Complaint only identifies the two drivers as “Mr. Steineman” and an “uninsured driver,” it expressly references a tort action resulting from the Collision. (Tr. \_\_; Complaint, ¶ 27). Therefore, the Circuit Court properly took judicial notice from the tort action that Steineman’s husband is named Eric Steineman and the uninsured driver is named Sarah Smith. (Tr. \_\_; 6/3/22 Order, p. 2, n.2). *See Tellabs, Inc. v. Makor Issues & Rights, Ltd.*, 551 U.S. 308, 322 (2007) (in analyzing a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, a court may consider “documents incorporated into the complaint by reference, and matters of which a court may take judicial notice.”).

Steineman continues to use the driver’s actual names, in contrast to Meridian’s description of Sarah Smith as an “Uninsured John Doe Driver.” (Appellant’s Brief, p. 6). Because “John Doe” has a unique meaning in the context of UM coverage as an unknown motorist (but Sarah Smith is known) and because a John Doe UM claim has additional procedural requirements (which do not apply to Steineman’s UM claim against Sarah Smith), *see* S.C. CODE ANN. §§ 38-77-170 & -180 (1976, as amended), Meridian’s terminology has the potential of mischaracterizing Steineman’s UM claim.

Steineman suffered serious bodily injuries in the Collision. (R. p. \_\_; Complaint, ¶ 20). She alleges Eric Steineman and Sarah Smith were negligent, caused the Collision, and are therefore liable for her damages. (R. pp. \_\_; Complaint, ¶¶ 19, 22, 24). Thus, she demanded that Meridian pay the limits of the Policy's \$250,000 in BI coverage plus \$750,000 in UIM coverage (\$250,000 UIM limits stacked for three insured vehicles) because of Eric Steineman's negligence. (R. p. \_\_; Complaint, ¶ 22). Steineman also demanded Meridian's payment of \$750,000 in UM coverage (\$250,000 UM limits stacked for three insured vehicles) due to Sarah Smith's negligence. (R. p. \_\_; Complaint, ¶¶ 24-25).

Meridian refused to pay the full amounts demanded by Steineman. Instead, it tendered the Policy's \$250,000 BI limits but denied Steineman's demands for UM and UIM coverages. (R. p. \_\_; Complaint, ¶¶ 23, 26). Meridian's denial was based on exclusions included in the BI, UM, and UIM coverage sections of the Policy known (and hereinafter referred to) as "duplicate payments" provisions. (R. p. \_\_; Complaint, ¶¶ 23, 26). Those provisions are worded similarly under each coverage and state that "[n]o one will be entitled to receive duplicate payments for the same elements of loss under" BI, UM, and UIM coverages. (R. pp. \_\_; Complaint, ¶¶ 28-31 & Ex. A, pp. 014, 038, 041). The duplicate payments provisions of the UIM coverage also state: "We will not make a duplicate payment under this coverage for any element of loss for which payment has been made by or on behalf of persons or organizations who may be legally responsible." (R. p. \_\_; Complaint, Ex. A, p. 041). The Policy does not define the terms "duplicate payments" and "elements of loss." (R. p. \_\_; Complaint, ¶ 32).

Steineman alleges damages in excess of \$1,000,000. (R. p. \_\_; Complaint, ¶ 21). Her past and future medical expenses alone exceed \$1,000,000. (R. pp. \_\_; Transcript of 2/1/22 Hearing, pp. 4-5).

2. The Policy's duplicate payments provisions do not exclude Steineman's recovery of UM or UIM coverages.

The Circuit Court correctly concluded that the duplicate payments provisions of the Policy do not preclude Steineman's recovery of UM or UIM coverage under the Policy.

As the Circuit Court properly reasoned, the first step in analyzing Meridian's denial of coverage is to determine the meaning of the term "duplicate payments." Because the term is not defined by the Policy, it was appropriate for the Circuit Court to consider how that term is typically defined and has been applied in other legal contexts. *See, e.g., Precision Walls, Inc. v. Liberty Mut. Fire Ins. Co.*, 410 S.C. 175, 183, 763 S.E.2d 598, 602 (Ct. App. 2014) ("The court must give policy language its plain, ordinary, and popular meaning."). And, as the Circuit Court correctly found, the commonly understood definition of "duplicate" is an exact copy or double of something else. *See, e.g., State v. Hatfield*, 462 P.3d 330, 336 (Utah 2020); *Vaughn v. Michelin Tire Corp.*, 756 S.W.2d 548, 557 (Mo. App. 1988). Thus, the ordinary and plain meaning of "duplicate payment" is an identical payment or paying twice for the same thing.

Meridian advocates a different construction of the duplicate payments provisions. To accept that construction, the Court would have to find that the term "duplicate payments" has a different meaning than that set forth above. However, even if the term could have an alternative and similarly reasonable meaning, that would only create an ambiguity in the language of the exclusionary provisions. *Williams v. Government Emps. Ins. Co.*, 409 S.C. 586, 595, 762 S.E.2d 705, 710 (2014) (an insurance policy term is ambiguous if "it is capable of more than one meaning when viewed objectively"). Of course, as discussed above, the Court must construe all such ambiguities in favor of coverage.

The Circuit Court correctly observed that the term "duplicate payments" is different than simply "payments." This is important because Meridian's construction of the duplicate payments

provisions would arguably be more plausible if those provisions did not use the word “duplicate” but only said “payments” (*i.e.*, “No one will be entitled to receive payments for the same elements of loss under this coverage and Part A of this policy.”). But to equate “duplicate payments” with “payments” in this context would violate the principle of insurance policy construction that requires the Court to give meaning to the language of the policy and not to ignore terms in a way that renders them meaningless. *See Whitmire v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co.*, 254 S.C. 184, 191, 174 S.E.2d 391, 394 (1970). Rather, Meridian chose to include the term “duplicate” and its inclusion must mean something.

Simply put, the duplicate payments provisions, as the Circuit Court ruled, are intended to prevent a double recovery – a duplication – but not to prevent an insured from recovering fully for her damages, up to applicable policy limits.

The Circuit Court’s construction of how the duplicate payments provisions operate to prevent a double recovery is consistent with and necessary to the manner in which UM and UIM coverages are typically applied. This fact is further evidence that its ruling is correct.

The Circuit Court’s conclusion is probably most easily appreciated with respect to UIM coverage. The Policy’s UIM endorsement includes the following insuring agreement:

We will pay damages which an “insured” is legally entitled to recover from the owner or operator of an “underinsured motor vehicle” because of:

1. “Bodily injury” sustained by an “insured” and caused by an accident....

(R. p. \_\_\_; Complaint, Ex. A, p. 040).

There is no dispute Steineman is an insured under the Policy. The Policy defines “underinsured motor vehicle” as follows:

“Underinsured motor vehicle” means a land motor vehicle or trailer of any type to which a liability bond or policy applies at the time of the accident in limits equal to or greater than the minimum limit for liability specified by the South Carolina Financial Responsibility

Act, but the limits of that bond or policy are not enough to pay the full amount the “insured” is legally entitled to recover as damages.

(R. p. \_\_; Complaint, Ex. A, p. 040).

It is noteworthy that nothing in this insuring agreement or definition limits an insured’s ability to recover *all* damages caused by an underinsured motorist, without regard to any payment made on behalf of that motorist.<sup>2</sup> In other words, absent other limiting provisions, the Policy permits an insured to recover UIM benefits for all damages caused by an underinsured driver, even if she has received that driver’s BI coverage limits and UIM benefits duplicate the BI payment.

The duplicate payments provisions provide the only language in the Policy’s UIM endorsement that supports a damages offset for BI coverage received. The language of those provisions demonstrates clearly that they are intended to provide Meridian, as UIM carrier, with a credit for the amounts paid or payable by the at-fault motorist’s BI insurer, even if that insurer is Meridian under the Policy – that is, they prevent a double recovery. They state:

**D.** No one will be entitled to receive duplicate payments for the same elements of loss under this coverage and Part A<sup>3</sup> ... of this policy.

**E.** We will not make a duplicate payment under this coverage for any element of loss for which payment has been made by or on behalf of persons or organizations who may be legally responsible.

...

**G.** We will reduce the “insured’s” total damages by any amount available to that “insured”, under any bodily injury liability bonds or policies applicable to the “underinsured motor vehicle”, that such “insured” did not recover as a result of a settlement between that “insured” and the insurer of an “underinsured motor vehicle”.<sup>4</sup> However, any reduction of the “insured’s” total damages will not reduce the limit of liability for this coverage.

---

<sup>2</sup> Under the “Limits of Liability” section of the UIM endorsement, the Policy separately caps the insured’s maximum recovery based on the UIM coverage limits stated in its declarations. (R. p. \_\_; Complaint, Ex. A, p. 040).

<sup>3</sup> Part A of the Policy is the BI coverage. (R. p. \_\_; Complaint, Ex. A, p. 012).

<sup>4</sup> A reduction in damages for the amount of BI coverage available, even if it was not all paid, was authorized by *Cobb v. Benjamin*, 325 S.C. 573, 482 S.E.2d 589 (Ct. App. 1997).

(R. p. \_\_; Complaint, Ex. A, p. 041).

If the Court were to find that these provisions do not provide Meridian with a credit for BI coverage paid or payable to a UIM insured, then Meridian has no basis on which to claim that credit and, under the UIM endorsement's insuring agreement, Steineman could claim she is entitled to recover all of her damages under the UIM coverage despite the fact that she has also received \$250,000.00 in BI coverage. This would be an absurd result and further demonstrates that Meridian intended the phrase to prevent a double recovery, as the Circuit Court found.

Moreover, accepting Meridian's construction of these provisions would yield an even more unreasonable result. The language used in items D and E is the same except that D refers to payments under the Policy, whereas E refers to payments on behalf of the at-fault motorist from another source. But, if the Court were to accept Meridian's interpretation, *an insured could never collect UIM coverage under the Policy after accepting BI coverage on behalf of an at-fault motorist* – even if the BI coverage was paid by another insurer – because that payment would be considered a payment for the same “elements of loss” under item E. This would render the Policy's UIM coverage totally illusory; therefore, the Court should reject Meridian's construction. *See S.C. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co. v. Kennedy*, 398 S.C. 604, 615, 730 S.E.2d 862, 867 (2012) (“the literal interpretation of policy language will be rejected where its application would lead to unreasonable results and the definitions as written would be so narrow as to make coverage merely ‘illusory.’”).

Finally, to take the application of Meridian's construction to its logical (but most absurd) extreme, Steineman would be better off in that scenario if she were to reject the BI coverage altogether and proceed only against UIM coverage with respect to her claim against Eric Steineman. That is because, under item G quoted above, she could obtain a judgment for damages, reduce her damages by \$250,000.00 (representing the available but uncollected BI coverage) and

still recover all UIM coverage under the Policy, up to coverage limits (*i.e.*, \$750,000.00). UIM limits would not be decreased per item G, which expressly states that the existence of BI coverage “will not reduce the limit of liability for this coverage.” Clearly, this not an outcome intended by the parties, nor was it the intent of the Legislature in enacting the UIM coverage statutes.

To the contrary, the phrase “will not reduce the limit of liability for this coverage” in item G is further proof that the duplicate payments provisions were simply intended to trigger UIM coverage at the point BI coverage limits end – not to exclude or to reduce UIM coverage.

With respect to UM coverage, the Policy’s UM endorsement includes a similar insuring agreement and definitions. (R. p. \_\_\_; Complaint, Ex. A, p. 036). It also includes similar duplicate payments provisions. (R. p. \_\_\_; Complaint, Ex. A, p. 038). For the same reasons discussed above, these are intended to prevent a double recovery by an insured, which could otherwise potentially happen in a situation with multiple at-fault drivers (such as Steineman’s tort claims) or where an at-fault driver has BI coverage but its limits are less than those mandated by South Carolina law. *See, e.g., Fireman’s Ins. Co. v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 295 S.C. 538, 544, 370 S.E.2d 85, 88 (1988) (“The tortfeasor’s insurance coverage in this case was not legally sufficient under South Carolina law and, therefore, the uninsured motorist provision applied.”).

In summary, the Circuit Court correctly applied the term “duplicate payments” in accord with its ordinarily understood sense, Meridian’s alternate interpretation of the term at best creates an ambiguity that the Court should nevertheless resolve in favor of coverage, and the results of applying Meridian’s interpretation of the duplicate payments provisions demonstrate that its construction could not have been what the parties intended. This Court should therefore affirm the ruling of the Circuit Court that the duplicate payments provisions do not bar Steineman’s claims for UM and UIM coverage under the Policy.

3. Even if the duplicate payments provisions were applied as contended by Meridian, they would violate public policy as established by South Carolina insurance statutes.

a. Public policy generally.

The Circuit Court correctly ruled that, if the duplicate payments provisions were applied to exclude UM or UIM coverages for Steineman's claims, they would violate public policy. As a result, the provisions would be void and unenforceable if one were to give them the effect advocated by Meridian. For the following reasons, the Circuit Court's conclusion was correct.

As a general rule, insurers have the right to limit their liability and to impose conditions on their obligations provided they are not in contravention of public policy or some statutory inhibition. While parties are generally permitted to contract as they see fit, freedom of contract is not absolute and coverage that is required by law may not be omitted. Statutes governing an insurance contract are part of the contract as a matter of law, and to the extent a policy provision conflicts with an applicable statute, the provision is invalid.

*Williams v. Government Emps. Ins. Co.*, 409 S.C. at 598, 762 S.E.2d at 712.

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